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For Marisol, because it is her turn and because I can’t imagine what I would do if I lost her






A Note on Language

I have preserved the spelling found in the original Information Wanted advertisements in which some formerly enslaved people wrote place and proper names the way they recalled hearing them. I did not include sic, but in some cases I have added common spellings in brackets for clarity. When quoting the Federal Writers’ Project interviews, I have preserved regional figures of speech, but I used standard English spellings of words. Whereas (mostly white) interviewers were instructed not to do so, many used dialect to capture “Black speech patterns,” resulting in transcripts that are confusing and racist. I replaced “dey” with “they,” “git” with “get,” for example, and “chillum” became “children.” I hope that making these changes will draw readers into the experiences of Freedom Generation rather than turn them away.
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“A Thirty Years’ Search” (snippet), New York World, October 2, 1892






Introduction

By the time Clara Bashop walked into the office of the New York World to describe her search for her daughter, Patience Green, she had relayed the details many times to many different audiences. Freed in Mississippi when the Civil War ended, Clara made her way across the postwar South, searching for the girl, asking ministers for help, and placing advertisements in newspapers. Clara started looking where she last saw her daughter—Richmond, Virginia. Clara’s daughter was twelve when they were sold away from each other. She’d be forty-five now, in 1892. Married, maybe. Children of her own.

Thirty-three years after she had last seen her, Clara still hoped to find her Patience.

Clara Bashop was one of thousands of formerly enslaved people who, in the years after slavery ended, took out advertisements in newspapers looking for family members they had lost in the domestic slave trade. That’s what brought Clara to the World. Ex-slaves searched for sold-away daughters, sons, parents, brothers, sisters, wives, and husbands; described in detail the circumstances of their separation; and recalled the places where loved ones were last seen. Members of Freedom Generation placed these advertisements describing the families they had made in slavery and that they hoped to remake in freedom. This is their story.

Talk of generations is always imprecise. The historian Ira Berlin coined the term “freedom generations” to refer to enslaved people who became free during the Civil War and all of those born afterward.1 Here, Freedom Generation is used more narrowly to describe men and women who were born enslaved and became free during or just before the U.S. Civil War. Their lives were marked by the great upheaval of the war, and, in the war’s aftermath, they carved out new lives for themselves as freed people. The lines between generations are blurry, and experiences overlap. Members of any one generation can never entirely escape the experiences of the previous one. Many members of Freedom Generation, for instance, traveled far, as did their ancestors who had been forced across the Atlantic from Africa—except in their case they were forced into the Mississippi Valley and, beyond that, as far away as Texas. The children of Freedom Generation grew up hearing the stories about sold-away loved ones; they went to school, they learned to read and write, and their parents enlisted their help searching for family. So, while this is a book about those Americans who were born enslaved and lived to tell their stories, it was written for their descendants who continue their search.

The search for family unfolded over many years, as freed people tried to find one another and to memorialize those they could not. As white Americans tired of Reconstruction-era talk about Black equality and civil rights and embraced the Lost Cause mythology about slavery—that the institution was benign, slaveowner and slave were family, slaves were content—they demanded that formerly enslaved people move on. Some African Americans who were born after slavery could also be impatient and even embarrassed with talk of slavery.2

Freedom Generation did move on: its members lived out their lives, married or married again, and raised children who would not grow up in slavery. But they continued to live with the ghosts of family members who had been wrenched from them and sent far away. And they kept searching. As they did, the advertisements they published offered a counternarrative to a growing national amnesia about slavery. They resolutely told and retold their family stories, how they fought those who took away their children, and refused to forget mothers and fathers they hardly knew. Clara Bashop never stopped looking for Patience and told her story everywhere she went. Freedom Generation’s story is about love and hope—hope that the ads they placed in the papers would bring loved ones back to them, that they would be able someday to remake in freedom what had been unmade in slavery.



The institution of slavery was sustained by a callous assault on enslaved people’s families. Enslavers bought and sold people based on financial calculations: how much could they afford, how much could they make, and how long would it take for them to see the return on their investment. Even slaveholders who might have sought to keep enslaved families together prioritized their own families’ well-being over those of their slaves, selling “a favorite slave” to pay off a debt or separating a child from their mother to provide financial or emotional support to a daughter on her wedding day or to a son striking out on his own. Some of these sales were local, but many separated enslaved loved ones by hundreds or even thousands of miles through a series of transactions. This buying and selling of human beings is often called America’s domestic slave trade. The greater the distance and the more times enslaved people changed hands, the harder it was to keep track of one another.

The term “domestic slave trade” once helped to distinguish it from the tight-packed ships of the transatlantic trade. But from the perspective of survivors, the “numbing privations” of the forced march south were as much a Middle Passage as the one their ancestors had traveled. For this reason, many historians now refer to the transactions that wrenched thousands of people away from their loved ones as the Second Middle Passage.3

By 1860, one million enslaved people had been sold from the Upper South to the Deep South. Each of them left behind family. One-quarter of those sold were between the ages of eight and fifteen; these children were often sold without a parent or a sibling.4 When a child traveled that far from home, to a place where everyone was a stranger and nothing was familiar, they must have felt lost. Many never saw their family again. Enslaved people ran away more often to be close to family members than they did to escape to free states; we know this because when enslavers took out ads looking for runaways, they often had a good idea where to find them—with their spouses, parents, or children.5 When a child ran away they headed in the direction of their mother or father. But they were not always sure how to get there and sometimes their legs couldn’t carry them that far.

When the Civil War began, there were more opportunities for enslaved people to escape to freedom. As the Union Army swept through the South, white civilians fled, taking their possessions, including enslaved people, with them. Enslavers sold slaves deep into the South to distance them from the advancing army. Yet, when the Union Army came, enslaved people abandoned the plantations and sought protection behind army lines. These wartime refugees—about a half million people—came alone and in groups; once behind Union lines, men who enlisted left wives and children to an uncertain fate. Many wound up in army-run “contraband” camps, but these camps provided limited protection from want and recapture. That U.S. Army officials referred to refugees from slavery as “contraband” indicates that they continued to see these people as property, or at least that they were unsure if they were free. In these squalid and overcrowded camps, women and children who had made their way to freedom across the dangerous wartime terrain died of smallpox, starvation, and exposure. Few records were kept of these deaths that families might have used to learn the fate of loved ones.

As people fled slavery, family members lost track of one another. Those who did not escape became free in the same place where they had been enslaved; Clara Bashop was among them. Wherever freedom reached them, and whenever, Freedom Generation sought to find the family that had been taken from them.

There was no federal agency appointed to the task of helping ex-slaves find loved ones—no database of missing persons they could consult. The Bureau of Refugees, Freedmen, and Abandoned Lands, known as the Freedmen’s Bureau, oversaw the negotiation of labor contracts between formerly enslaved people and their masters. Bureau agents encouraged freedmen and -women, who in slavery had been denied that right, to marry; once their marriages were recognized by state authorities, so too were their rights to their children. Parents came to the bureau for help having their children released from the apprenticeships that former enslavers continued to hold them in. The bureau as well as a number of private relief agencies opened up schools that filled with ex-slaves of all ages eager to learn to read and write. And, some agents did what they could to help reunite families.

In refugee camps, bureau offices, schools, and churches freed people asked around to see if anyone had news about children, parents, spouses, or anyone from the old master’s place who might know where to find them. Sometimes freed people wrote to their former masters for help. “I wish to know what has Ever become of my presus little girl,” Violet Lester wrote to the family who had sold her from her daughter, “I left her in goldsborough.”6 Where was she sold? Did he get to the North safely? Has she remarried? Are they still alive? In those early days, freed people discovered the limitations of what agents of the federal government could do, even when they were willing to help. But that didn’t stop them from asking their questions and continuing to search.

In the absence of a federal commitment to reuniting slavery’s separated families, freed people recruited allies from within their own communities. They sought advice from United States Colored Troops (USCT) soldiers and schoolteachers. They repeated the names of loved ones to Black pastors and newspaper editors. They took inspiration from their neighbors. And they left behind an archive of thousands of advertisements printed in Black newspapers documenting their decades-long efforts to rebuild their families after slavery.



From California to New Jersey, Massachusetts to Texas, and everywhere in between, formerly enslaved people took out ads in newspapers searching for what slavery had stolen from them. Under headlines such as “Information Wanted,” “Seeking For the Lost,” “Do You Know Them?,” or, simply, “Dear Editor,” they looked for children, parents, siblings, spouses, uncles, aunts, army comrades, and friends. Hundreds of these ads appeared in papers in the first years of freedom, and they continued for decades. Columns of ads could be found in newspapers well into the 1910s, fifty years after emancipation. As late as 1920, the Chicago Defender was still publishing ads from formerly enslaved people looking for family lost in slavery.

The ads were a regular feature in African American newspapers, especially Philadelphia’s Christian Recorder and New Orleans’s Southwestern Christian Advocate, whose editors were singularly committed to soliciting and publishing them. Both were associated with Black churches, where church and newspaper offices served as clearinghouses for information for Freedom Generation as they searched for their family members. The Recorder ran a regular column of ads beginning in 1864 appearing under the heading “Information Wanted,” making them easily recognizable to anyone who might have been able to help. Published by Philadelphia’s Mother Bethel African Methodist Episcopal Church, the Christian Recorder had deep ties to the USCT; during the Civil War the paper printed soldiers’ letters from the front and supported their strike for wages equal to white soldiers. Philadelphia was an important training ground for Black soldiers, and recruits traveling through the city circulated the Recorder throughout the South. Regimental chaplains took out multiple subscriptions of the paper to support the expansion of literacy and to draw men into the church.7 A onetime ad cost $1.50 and came with a subscription to the paper; $4 bought an ad that ran for three months, $6 for six months, and for $10, an ad ran for a year. These fees could not have been easy for formerly enslaved people to manage. The editor of the Christian Recorder, Rev. Elisha Weaver, appealed to pastors of Black churches throughout the country to read the ads aloud to their congregations. This ensured that each search was broadcast widely and that the ads reached people who could not read the paper or who did not subscribe.

The Southwestern Christian Advocate was published by the Methodist Episcopal Church of New Orleans, and, like the Recorder, the paper was circulated widely, particularly in Methodist parishes in Louisiana, Mississippi, Arkansas, and Texas.8 The terms were comparable to those offered in the Recorder. Subscribers ran Lost Friends notices for free. Others were charged 50 cents, a smaller onetime fee than paying $2 for an annual subscription. Letters to the Advocate appeared under the heading “Lost Friends.” A short note appeared at the top of the column directing ministers to read the requests from their pulpits and “report any case where friends are brought together by means of the letters of the Southwestern.” Freed people sometimes wrote to report they had found their family. “Sir,” wrote Naro Gillespie from Egypt, Mississippi, “I feel very thankful for your paper which was the cause of my finding my relatives that I thought were dead. I found them in Sweet Home, Arkansas.”9 The cost of sending a letter to the paper again—and the effort involved—surely dissuaded people from reporting back.

Other papers also ran these ads. Some, like the Richmond Planet, were long-lived, but many papers came and went quickly. The Afro-American Advocate of Coffeyville, Kansas, for instance, lasted only two years, 1891–1893. The Chicago Defender was around for sixty years. The first copies of the Defender hit newsstands in 1906; soon after, the paper began publishing ads from formerly enslaved people looking for loved ones lost in slavery.

The advertisements highlight the role newspapers played in supporting Black communities and allow us to see how news and information traveled through and between these communities. The grapevine telegraph from slavery continued in freedom; it overlapped with the newspapers and continued to fill information gaps where there were no papers.

The ads provide narrative accounts of the lived experience of slavery, including everyday resistance. Freed people describe genealogies of slavery, naming kin and giving details about how enslavers and slave traders separated their families. The details allow us to understand how enslaved people survived separation, how family members got word to one another despite great distances and considerable surveillance, and how they managed to maintain hope. Many indicate how the separation occurred, and some offer a rough timeline of events. Sometimes loved ones are described in detail. Including the name of an enslaver could stand in for other details, such as a changed last name or an imprecise location. Memory can be fickle. Age, too, can be its enemy. Written by survivors of traumatic events, the ads that form the basis for this book are imperfect and incomplete, but they are part of an archive of family stories never before told.



The narratives that make up this book were drawn from a unique archive of thousands of advertisements. Most ads were printed in Black newspapers that disappeared long ago. Until recently, these ads containing crucial clues for family genealogists and historians were buried in the storage of local historical societies or on microfilm reels that time forgot. A few early ads date to the 1830s, as fugitives from slavery made their way north and hoped to bring others with them; the latest ads date to the 1920s. They were written by members of Freedom Generation living in all the existing states and territories, and in Great Britain, Sierra Leone, Liberia, and Haiti. Some people writing in search of relatives from Canada likely escaped on the Underground Railroad, as did those writing from Mexico. Isabel Wilkerson described the Great Migration as “the first step that the nation’s servant class ever took without asking,” but Freedom Generation was on the move even earlier.10 As they called out the names of their missing loved ones from places far and near to where they had once been enslaved, members of Freedom Generation expressed their great hope that neither time nor distance would matter in their search for family.

I began clipping and saving Information Wanted and Lost Friends ads many years ago as I came across them in the Black newspapers I read via the subscription database at my university library. I knew I had to make the stories told in the ads available to the descendants of the people named in them. Each ad contains information that can help a family find their ancestors. I knew, too, that whatever this archive would look like, it would be free. No one should have to pay to know their family’s history. The result was the Last Seen Project website, which my graduate students and I built and which we launched in 2017. We’d dig into the microfilmed copies of African American newspapers that we borrowed through interlibrary loan and see what we found there. We hoped that one day we’d be able to publish one thousand ads.

As I write this book, we have more than 4,500, and people have visited the site more than sixteen million times.

We built a website, informationwanted.org, for family genealogists. We were moved by historian Heather Andrea Williams’s description of descendants who “are haunted by the need to know, the desire to find out about those who were lost through sale or through the negligence of history.”11 We workshopped our ideas with African American genealogy groups and returned to debut the website with them when it was nearly ready to go live. The people we met in these groups told us that they wanted to work alongside us, so we arranged to have them transcribe the ads. Once transcribed, each word in each ad can be found via an easy keyword search. Black genealogists wanted to be able to download and post the ads to the family trees they curate on Ancestry.com, a commercial site, and we built in these features. Genealogists regularly report back to tell us when a word has been transcribed incorrectly or a map location is not quite right. Their input drives us to continually update the site to make it easier to use and to invite users to share their family stories.

From time to time, project codirector Dr. Signe Fourmy and I hear from people when they find someone they were looking for. But no bells ring or lights go off when someone finds a family member in one of the ads. Mostly, we don’t know how the story ends for people who come to the collection today to find their ancestors, any more than we know how the stories told in the ads ended. When we talk to audiences about the project, the one thing they always want to know is: “Did they find each other?” We call it the question.

I always answer the question the same way. And no one is ever satisfied with it: “I don’t know.”

Over time I realized it wasn’t enough to say that I didn’t know whether people found one another. I wanted a better answer. I wanted to know what it meant for Freedom Generation to look for one another, how they managed it from all the various places where they had become free, who their allies and their detractors were, and what the obstacles, systemic and particular to location, that they faced were as they searched, and also as they lived their lives. What did it mean to be free and yet to feel the tug of those who had been left behind in slavery? To not know if they survived, and if they were also looking?

Each ad opened a door that might allow us to see how a freed person sought answers. So, I decided to follow some of them through those open doors. Each of the ten chapters that follow tells the stories of freed people searching for lost loved ones and working to rebuild their families during a period of dramatic postwar social change.



Each search for family was unique, shaped as it was by the people who were doing the searching and those whom they sought, the places where they lived, and the accuracy of the details both searcher and searchee brought into freedom. The stories included here were chosen because they represent the most common searches found in the archive. Mothers were frequent searchers, as were sons and daughters searching for them. The collection is full and the record long of sisters and brothers looking for one another. Letters from siblings are the most common type, representing about 35 percent of the total. This may reflect their age at emancipation, as the next most common letter writers were children looking for parents (around 25 percent), mostly their mothers. Fathers show up in the archive as both searcher and searchee, but less often.

United States Colored Troops army comrades sought out each other; old soldiers reached out to one another for help with their pensions, perhaps also companionship. Ads appealing for lost wives and husbands appear less frequently than the others, perhaps because their remarriages complicated the search for first husbands and wives.

The most popular stories in the collection are those with happy endings, particularly the reunion of long-lost spouses. The 1903 story “After Forty-Four Years,” for example, about Jeff Frierson and Mary Burt finding one another in Shelbyville, Tennessee, reviving the “old love” they had once shared, and marrying in front of their white friends. And an 1884 account, “A Romance of Slavery,” out of Missouri about the (re)marriage of Levi and Aggie (their last names were omitted), seventy and sixty years old, respectively, is another favorite. “Everybody in the neighborhood” turned out to hear the old couple’s story and to offer Levi and Aggie “many kindnesses.” Reunions were crowd-pleasers then as now. Of course, people want stories to end happily. One does not have to buy the Lost Cause narrative about slavery to believe, or to want to believe, that Mary and Jeff and Aggie and Levi found one another again.12 But, concerned that we might be mixing fiction in with nonfiction accounts, Signe and I had a long conversation with our students about whether to exclude stories like these from the collection. To check the urge toward sentimentalism, we decided we’d append a warning message to them instead. Each is tagged “white newspaper.” It is our way of alerting readers that those accounts are different from those published in the Black press: they do not represent the experiences of Freedom Generation. The success rate of these advertisements might have been as low as 2 percent. Of the 4,568 advertisements (as of May 14, 2024) that comprise the Last Seen Collection, 105, or 2 percent, are from people who found one another.

Chance meetings of formerly enslaved people were rare.

Tens of thousands of children were taken from their mothers and fathers over the four decades of the Second Middle Passage. There were no nineteenth-century studies on trauma to explain what happened to them throughout their lifetimes. We know more today, for instance, about how trauma changes the way the brain functions and the way memories are formed and that some of these changes can be permanent. Chemical imbalances in the brain cause trauma survivors to continue to feel the effects of stress long afterward, and when they do, young people may miss developmental milestones and older ones age faster.13 Many advertisements were placed by people who were children when they lost their loved ones. The stories they told in the newspapers are the testimonies of survivors to America’s traffic in children. They underscore the central truth that selling children away from their mothers was the rule of American slavery, not the exception. The effects of that traffic followed them long after they became free. Acknowledging that fact can help us to understand how the road Freedom Generation traveled back to their families was littered not only with obvious visible roadblocks, such as political retrenchment and white supremacist violence, but also insidious invisible obstacles that made it harder to hold on to old memories and to make new ones.

Children sold alone had no one with whom they could organize the memories or process the trauma. The letters they wrote to the papers map a geography of loss, of pasts and futures that might have been. They document the “devastating mother loss” that lies “at the heart of the modern Black psyche,” as historian Tiya Miles has said.14 Their stories are difficult to read even today. Because a child who was sold alone or who was left behind at the sale of a parent often had only brief if vivid memories of the last moments spent together with the parent, it’s hard to understand how the information in these ads might have helped a child find their mother.

In their ads, these grown-up children recall mothers and fathers whose acts of bravery loom large—large enough to encompass the sons and daughters they left behind. Celebrating the heroism of parents allowed formerly enslaved children to claim courage as their inheritance. They often chose terms that emphasized their small size. Thirty-nine-year-old Mary Delaney, for instance, remembered a mother who was taken from her “when I could but crawl.” Lula Montgomery was sold from her parents “when quite a child—a nursing baby.” Lula held on to details about her parents and the one memento she had of her mother, the tooth her mother had pulled from her own mouth and “tied it around my neck.”15 Jessie Johnson recalled that he was a “small boy” when his father tried to save him from a slave trader by carrying him across a swollen river and hiding him in a storehouse.16 Jessie figured he was about fifteen years old at the time—nearly not a boy anymore. When enslaved children described themselves as quite small, the stories that followed served to underscore their own courage as much as they did the actions of their parents—despite being left to go it alone, they ran away, spoke up, and endured the great odds stacked against them. Sometimes simply surviving and remembering were acts of courage.

The truth about America’s traffic in children and how, long after the end of slavery, children and their parents and siblings remained separated was an affront to those who believed that Americans were pioneers in developing uniquely child-centered family values. It contradicted the narrative of slavery’s happy endings familiar to white audiences. Central to that narrative were the stories of unlikely slave reunions. Mark Twain wrote for The Atlantic in 1874 with the “True Story” of Mary Ann Cord’s wartime reunion with her son, Henry, one of seven children sold away from her. “De Lord God ob heaven de praise’,” Twain concludes the story, in Mary’s voice, “I got my own ag’in!”17 White newspapers perpetuated that narrative. The Asheville Daily Citizen, for example, ran an article titled “Found His Mother,” about the Christmas Day reunion of John Williams—who was sold away to Mississippi when he was just a boy—with his long-lost mother. “John went along into the house,” the story went, “and his mother, upon seeing him, rushed into his arms with many exclamations of joy.”18 Literature aimed at children drove home the point that slavery was a thing of the past, not something that disturbed the present, such as the 1904 children’s edition of abolitionist Harriet Beecher Stowe’s Uncle Tom’s Cabin that assured young readers that “there are no slaves now… so we need not be sad over it.”19

We want stories that end in reunion, for families to be made whole. We require that freed people’s lives “be made useful or instructive,” as author Saidiya Hartman has explained: we demand “a lesson for our future or a hope for history.”20 Today, the desire for Black family reunion remains strong; it explains the proliferation of Black genealogy groups and television shows that cater to them. It drives tourism to the remains of West African slave dungeons. The desire for reunion accounts for the popularity of stories that end happily.

Last Seen: The Enduring Search by Formerly Enslaved People to Find Their Lost Families recounts the story of one generation’s work to reimagine and rebuild family against considerable odds. It points to the truth: in spite of efforts that persisted over several generations, few of these searches resulted in happy endings. Still, Freedom Generation’s love for their lost family endured—and so did their search.






CHAPTER ONE Patience and Clara Bashop


Clara Bashop had looked for her children in many places in the years she had been free. In October 1892, she traveled from her home in Morristown, New Jersey, to take her search to the World. Surely a newspaper with a name like that, in a place like New York City, could help.

Bashop arrived at the offices of the New York World on October 1. Someone noticed her—tall and dignified—walking into the bustling newspaper office on a Saturday and steered her to a reporter’s desk instead of to a clerk to whom she might have paid for a short ad describing people and places in the old South, each one a clue that might lead to her daughter, Patience. The reporter was struck by the figure she cut; when Bashop began to talk, the tears “flowed down her face and dropped on the folds of her thick, black veil.” Here was a story that would sell papers. “A Thirty Years’ Search. Mrs. Bashop’s Pitiful Quest for Her Daughter, Patience,” read the headline. “Tears have often flowed over the woes of Uncle Tom,” but Clara’s “story is sadder and more pathetic than the one Mrs. Stowe so feelingly told.” Sadder than Eliza’s desperate flight across the icy Ohio River with her child in her hands because, unlike the fictional character in Uncle Tom’s Cabin, Clara Bashop had not managed to save her child.1 More pathetic because she was a real person, sitting across from the reporter, crying as he wrote down the story she told. A real person who needed the World’s help. “[K]nowing the power of a great newspaper, she came to New York and asked THE WORLD to help her.”

Bashop’s story was published the next day in the World and the St. Louis Dispatch and then two days later in the San Francisco Chronicle—three major newspapers, spanning the country.2 This unprecedented coverage gave Clara Bashop an enormous audience for her story of slavery and survival, and it surely raised her hopes for a long-awaited reunion with her daughter. Such a reunion would make good newspaper copy. The reporter for the World sprinkled the story with direct quotes from Bashop like “She was a bright little girl,” which was sure to touch readers’ hearts as they waited for the sequel, to build in anticipation. As was “I would know her the moment I saw her, and I will find her yet.”3

But for a story focused on a missing person, it was short on crucial details that might have moved readers to come forward with information. The man who purchased Patience is identified only as “the stranger.” The name of the person who had purchased Clara is also missing, as are details about how and when she wound up in Mississippi. Some of this information may have been lost in her interview. Of her passage into the lower Mississippi Valley, the World said only that “[s]laves changed masters rapidly then, and Mrs. Bashop was sold from one to another, passing into Alabama and Mississippi, being owned at Carrollton, in the latter State, when emancipation came,” the endpoint of her “involuntary wanderings.”4

It may be that the reporter never asked Clara for the names of the men who sold her at each step or that she forgot them. Readers learned that Clara “begged each master to write back to Charles City Court-House, Va.,” a request to which “[s]ome complied. Others did not. But no news ever came of the missing girl.” By not naming the various men who had bought and sold her, the World avoided placing blame for the violence done to Clara Bashop and Patience where it belonged. And, it practically ensured that the piece would have little benefit to Clara. Who were these masters? we might have asked. How did she know that some complied? Did they know where Clara could find her child?

In keeping “A Thirty Years’ Search” so singularly focused on Clara and Patience, the reporter wrote slavery out of the picture. Instead, it became a human-interest story featuring a heartbroken Black mother and a host of hapless and unnamed white characters.

Carrollton, Mississippi, is nearly nine hundred miles from Charles City, Virginia. “Wanderings” did not capture the trauma Clara experienced as she was separated from Patience and then taken farther and farther away from her. Every fall, just after the harvest, enslavers tallied up their account books and decided which of their enslaved people to sell to slave traders. Traders then chained their human property into coffles and began making their way toward New Orleans or Natchez, where they were to be sold again into the cotton fields of Alabama, Mississippi, and Georgia. On foot the trip to New Orleans could take two months; packed into ocean-borne ships or river steamers, less than half that time. Each stage of the voyage was effected through violence, as enslaved people resisted separation from their families and sought to escape the terrifying uncertainties of what awaited them.

Papers like the World obscured the truth about the white men who routinely perpetrated violence against enslaved people. Men like Dick Christian and Ben Davis.

“A wealthy country gentleman” is how the World reporter described Dick Christian, the man who owned mother and daughter before selling them. Surely a “gentleman” would never have purposely ripped apart a family; only when “Mr. Christian became involved in debt… like many other Virginia country gentlemen of those days,” did he sell Clara and twelve-year-old Patience to two different men, sending them off to their separate fates and beginning Clara Bashop’s thirty-three-year search. Twice described as a “gentleman” and from an “aristocratic” family, Christian was not the villain in the story that the World told about Clara Bashop and Patience Green—he was simply an unfortunate victim of “debt,” as if, like temporary insanity, such a thing could make otherwise good men do bad things. Enslavers were always in debt, or so they told enslaved people whose resistance they anticipated and hoped to avoid.5 In 1892, that excuse played well with white audiences uninterested in hearing from ex-slaves about how their children had been taken from them, unless those accounts ended happily. The paper’s boasted “Million Readers” were not meant to feel uncomfortable.

Often the slave trader appears as the villain in stories told in white newspapers, but not in this one. In the World’s account, as Bashop mounted the auction block, she prayed she would be sold with Patience and wept when the “little girl… was sold to a stranger.” Dropping to her knees, Bashop begged the man who bought her to buy her daughter. That man, “Ben Davis, a professional negro trader,” was so moved by her grief that he offered to buy Patience. “Though hardened by constant sight of such scenes, Davis’s heart was touched by the agony of the mother.” A slave trader with a heart, Ben Davis nonetheless failed to save the child from “the stranger” who had purchased her. Or, at least that is what he told Clara Bashop, his new property that he needed to secure until he could sell her, and that is what she told the reporter.

The reporter described Clara as “tall and slender” and with a “face [that] shows the refinement which the colored women in the aristocratic old families of the South so often possessed.” If the reference to Bashop’s “aristocratic” features was meant to imply her mixed race, then the reporter silently acknowledged the routine rape of enslaved women, again without laying blame. As had Stowe in populating Uncle Tom’s Cabin with light-skinned enslaved people—like Eliza, who was described in the book’s opening pages as having a “finely moulded shape; a delicately formed hand and a trim foot and ankle”—the World reporter’s reference to Clara Bashop’s refined features, what writer Caroline Randall Williams has called “rape-colored skin,” tapped into white readers’ obsession with mixed-race women.6

If Bashop’s appearance wasn’t enough to elicit white readers’ sympathies, the author repeated the endorsement of her current employers in Morristown, New Jersey, a bedroom community for wealthy New Yorkers, where Bashop lived and worked at a boardinghouse and where “she was in charge of one of the most important departments.” And then there was her motherhood. Clara Bashop’s thirty-three-year search for Patience surely was evidence of the universality of mother love, the World concluded: that a mother’s heart beats just as strong in the “humble bosom of a slave” as in the hearts of the paper’s (white) readers.

Although Clara Bashop was a free woman, and had been for more than thirty years, the references to her praying, begging, and weeping collapsed the distance in time and place between late-nineteenth-century New York City and mid-century Virginia, locating Bashop in the same space as the unfortunate Dick Christian, who “became involved in debt” and whose “slaves were placed on the block.” Dick Christian was not the villain in this story; in spite of her dignified presentation, though, Clara Bashop was not a victim. She was scarred and traumatized by losing her Patience. In the World’s telling of Clara Bashop’s separation from her daughter, slavery was scrubbed of meaning; it no longer held the power to explain what happened to Clara, Patience, and millions of other former slaves. It was rather that these things—a man’s debt, the auctioning off of human beings, the separation of mother and child—happened to people but not because of them.

But of course, separating families was a central fact of slavery. Mothers and daughters, brothers and sisters, wives and husbands were routinely sold away from one another. It was what made possible the settling of the cotton frontier of the Mississippi Valley, from which people like Dick Christian would become rich or lose it all—or both—investing in slavery and slave-produced cotton. Prime field hands—that’s what people in their late teens and early twenties, like Bashop, were called, because they could pick a lot of cotton in a place like Mississippi and because selling them brought a good price to a Virginia family like the Christians. Of course, people at that age were also very likely to have children, to have claimed for themselves a family within an institution that denied them the privilege. With family came a sense of belonging, and in slavery one belonged only to the master. So, while enslavers might condone or tolerate slave families, they saw the ties between family members as loose and easily cut. Slaveholders did not always recognize the market value of children who were too young to work the fields, so often children were not sold with their mothers, fathers, or older siblings.7 They were sold separately, like Patience.

The reporters at the World were not interested in these facts about slavery. Middle-aged Patience was a “lost girl,” as the story called her repeatedly, as if she had simply wandered off, and her mother deserved pity for having kept up her search for so long.

The headlines underscored the point. To the New York World it was Clara Bashop’s thirty-three-year search for Patience, “the Girl for Whom She Has Slaved So Long to Discover,” that was slavery. What caused their separation was unclear.



Clara Bashop turned over the rights to her story to a reporter, no doubt white, who wrote it to fit with the popular Lost Cause portrait of slavery. But this is not the way Bashop had explained things in an advertisement she took out in an African American newspaper, the Chicago Appeal, several months before. There, appearing at the end of a column of similar ads by ex-slaves that the paper printed for free, Clara Bashop’s appeal was stated rather simply:


Patience Green and John William Harris. I wish to find my daughter Patience Green. I have no trace of her since she was sold at Richmond, Va., 1859. She was then 12 years of age. John William Harris my son went with some servants of Mr. Batts (after the surrender) who lived in Prince George Co. to Washington City. He was 14 years old at that time. Both were of Charles City, C.H., Va., and belonged to Dick Christian, (in name only), by whom they were sold. Information will be gladly received by Mrs. Clara Bashop, Colbath House, Morristown, N.J.8



So, although the World focused on her search for Patience, Clara Bashop was looking for two children. Of her son, John William Harris, she seems to have picked up a faint trail, learning that the boy left Virginia for Washington, D.C., when the war ended—about six years after Clara was sold into Mississippi. There he would have joined thousands of other ex-slaves, like the “servants of Mr. Batts” of Maryland, who arrived in the nation’s capital during the war as refugees; many of them stayed on to fight for political equality. An advertisement like the one Bashop took out in Chicago may have appeared in one of Washington, D.C.’s, several Black newspapers, alerting Harris of his mother’s whereabouts and that she was looking for her children. If John William Harris was still in the city, she may have found him.

By the time Clara Bashop’s account of slavery and survival had been co-opted by the New York World looking for a human-interest story about an old slave woman’s faithful search for her daughter, white papers everywhere were publishing similar stories that threw a thick blanket of nostalgia over the history of slavery. The forgetting, the cover-up, began in the stories white newspapers and magazines told about the past, reinforced in public places where statues, plaques, and monuments to enslavers appeared. Many years later, to these was added a flag, associated with this time but really a product of a later one, that flew high over southern capitol buildings. Schools and U.S. military bases were named for men who had raised arms against their country in defense of slavery. By the twentieth century many layers of forgetting lay on top of experiences like Bashop’s.

But at first there were words that seemed to be telling the same stories with crucial differences.

Clara Bashop chose her words carefully in the ad she placed in the Chicago Appeal. She named both of her children, the man who separated her from them, and the last known places for both Patience and John. She said nothing of Christian’s “debt,” if that is what made him decide to sell Clara and Patience, nor of her seeking help from her enslavers in finding her children. Nothing about the thirty-three-year search that so captivated the author of the World account. Bashop did not use adjectives meant to elicit sympathy or pity. She asked Appeal readers to contact her directly if they had information that would be useful to her search. And she added a three-word caveat, a postscript, to the clause identifying the man who had sent her away from her children, who had exercised his legal right as an owner of people to sell them at his convenience. Against this legal right, Clara Bashop asserted a moral and emotional one. Patience and John may have been recognized as the property of Dick Christian, but, she insisted, they had belonged to him “(in name only).”

Clara Bashop’s two children did not share her last name, perhaps they never had. Of their whereabouts she knew little, and much of the rest of the family’s story is unclear. But about one thing Bashop was very clear. John and Patience belonged to her. They always had.



For every reunion story printed in white newspapers, hundreds of ads ran in Black papers throughout the country. Clara Bashop took out another ad in a Black newspaper in Richmond three years later, listing her address in that city. The paper spelled her name “Baship,” but the story was hers. There was Patience Green and John William Harris, unquestionably hers. Details about John leaving for Washington at the end of the war. To Clara’s original recollection, that John’s departure occurred at “the surrender,” the ad now read “Lee’s surrender,” as if associating Bashop’s family story with Robert E. Lee added further clarity. And Bashop named Dick Christian in the new ad, a name that connected the fates of Patience, John, and Clara to an extended Virginia family which had at one time held many people in bondage. About Christian, the new ad read “by whom my daughter was sold,” repeating a phrase that brought Clara back to that day in Richmond thirty-six years earlier.9

Bashop left only the faintest trace in the historical record, and her children left even less. John William Harris wasted no time getting out of Virginia, leaving behind only enough information so that his mother knew he was headed for Washington. No John William Harris matching his description appears in the census in Washington, D.C. When she was twelve, Patience went by the last name Green; by the time her mother came looking for her or word of her in Virginia, she may have gone by a different last name. Many enslaved Virginians carried the name Patience—given to them, perhaps, by enslavers who assigned passive names to people whom they claimed as their property but whose cooperation they could not take for granted. An enslaved child named Patience might be taught to suffer silently. Charity was another name designed to remind enslaved people of their place, as were Fortune and diminutives such as Jack, Sally, Joe, and Betty (instead of John, Sarah, Joseph, and Elizabeth).10

“Patience” may have been intended as a prescriptive, but when the name appeared in runaway slave advertisements, it put the lie to the stories enslavers told themselves about the contentment of enslaved people. An enslaver in Farmville, North Carolina, for example, offered a reward for a family of five who ran away in 1818: the husband’s name was Adam and the wife’s was Patience. The advertisement included the family’s likely destination and warned readers not to help them, suggesting that this was not the couple’s first attempt to get their family out of slavery. Allusions to suffering and forbearance notwithstanding, Patience and Adam took matters into their own hands.11

Slavery was “vastly beneficial” to African Americans, concluded a professor at Columbia University, writing not long after the World story, because enslaved people were brought under the “superior intelligence” of whites; slaves “were, in general, entirely contented with their new lot.”12

Clara Bashop’s trauma was compelling not because it was exceptional but because she was. And surely there was a happy ending waiting for readers in the next issue of the paper.

Dick Christian left a paper trail that adds a few more details to Bashop’s story. Richard Christian appears in the 1860 census in Charles City, Virginia, as owner of nine people: one woman twenty-five years of age, a six-year-old female child, and seven males ranging in age from two to forty-two. Christian employed another eleven enslaved people; the eldest was a sixty-year-old woman and the youngest an eight-month-old girl. He had likely hired these people from their masters.13 Christian told Clara that he sold her and Patience because he was in debt, but selling people was the business of Virginia planters, who had long ago stopped planting much of anything, having turned instead to the big profits to be made in selling people into the cotton frontier.14 With five enslaved people aged fifteen and younger as his property, Dick Christian looked forward to more such lucrative sales—until war broke out.

Slavery began falling apart in Virginia as soon as the Civil War began. As whites marched off to defend slavery, enslaved people on the Virginia Peninsula fled to freedom by way of Fort Monroe, still under federal control, just down the James River from Charles City Courthouse. Dick Christian enlisted in the Confederate Army in May 1861, leaving the management and security of his slaves to his wife and, perhaps, to other family members living nearby.15 A few days later, U.S. Army general Benjamin Butler declared enslaved people seeking freedom in U.S. Army camps—like the several hundred already congregated at Fort Monroe—“contraband” of war and refused to return them to their owners. More enslaved people came as word got out. General George McClellan traveled through Charles City in the summer of 1862, turning the plantations along the river’s banks into army encampments in an attempt to take Richmond. By then, Clara and Patience were gone, but John still “belonged” to Dick Christian. A number of enslavers with that same last name learned the hard way that their “property” in slaves was not secure.

Eight of William Edmond Christian’s enslaved people ran away in one day, on May 1, 1862, early in McClellan’s Peninsula Campaign; that was just the beginning of the troubles for Charles City’s slaveholders. In August, three of Gideon Christian’s slaves followed McClellan’s troops as they left the Virginia Peninsula, as did four enslaved people owned by Mary T. Christian, Gideon’s wife: John and Peter, both thirty-five years old; Walter, seventeen years old; and, perhaps worst of all for Mary, Albert, thirty-eight and described as a carpenter.16 It is not clear how these various Christians were related, but one year into the war, they all filed into the county courthouse to report the loss of their slave property to the U.S. Army. Four hundred ninety-two people had left slavery behind in Charles City by 1863; two of them were also named Patience. And when the U.S. Army returned in 1864, under General Ulysses S. Grant, surely more left, maybe even some of Dick Christian’s slaves. If so, they began their journey toward freedom years before Clara Bashop, who was far away from the Virginia Peninsula.

By the time Bashop had saved enough money to leave Mississippi for Virginia, to make the nine-hundred-mile journey in reverse, Dick Christian “was dead and the war had swept away old landmarks and old recollections,” as the World put it. By then, there was little left of the society slaveholders had built. Clara Bashop never got to ask Christian for the name of the man to whom he had sold Patience. Either Clara did not retain or she never adopted the last name Christian as her own, and neither did her children. Their last names—Green and Harris—may link them to previous slaveowners or to the children’s fathers. No slaveholders named Green or Harris appear in the Charles City, Virginia, slave schedule, but among the county’s free Black population, both surnames were common. Free or enslaved, Patience’s father would have been unable to protect his daughter from being sold. Because the status of the child followed that of the mother, Patience was born into slavery, regardless of the status of her father, and because a slave could not be married, the state would not recognize a father’s claim to her.

It may be significant that Bashop never mentioned a husband in her ad or to the World—if she had one, he may have died, been sold away, or deserted them—but the omission underscores “the turmoil” the law of slavery “had sanctioned over many generations” of Black families, one that freedom could not erase.17 In this world in which white men had legal claim to the children of Black women and men, Clara Bashop had created a family that included two children and perhaps, at one time, the father of one or the other child. But she never had legal claim to her children, and after slavery, as southern states moved to retroactively legalize the marriages of ex-slaves, the complex and overlapping bonds of affection that slaves had formed with one another were not easily sorted into nuclear family units. In slavery, Bashop’s family existed only as long as white men tolerated it.

When freedom came, Bashop, like most freed people, went into the world with nothing of her own. So, she stayed in Mississippi, because “she could not get away.” Clara learned to read and write—or perhaps she had “stolen” that knowledge while she was still enslaved. Around 10 percent of enslaved people were literate.18 Bashop worked her way back to Virginia, then to Kentucky, maybe on some intelligence she’d picked up in Charles City. Then she returned to South Carolina, where, years before, she had been sold for the second time. From there she retraced her own steps into the Second Middle Passage, seeking answers from former enslavers or “professional negro traders” like Ben Davis, who had negotiated Bashop’s changing hands from one enslaver to another.

Everywhere in the 1880s and ’90s, freed people were pulling up stakes and finding new places to call their own. Some headed far away from the cotton plantations where they had always lived and still labored. Exodusters went to Kansas where, like the Jews in the Book of Exodus, they hoped to find their promised land. Others did not go far at all but instead formed independent Black towns—in Alabama, Mississippi, and Texas, for instance—where they could protect themselves from white violence and where they opened schools, built churches, and started benevolent societies.19 As they moved, they carved paths that would eventually bring hundreds of thousands out of the South to the North, Midwest, and West. Bashop and the others who traveled these roads built what historian Steven Hahn called a “chain of kin, neighbors, and friends that would guide and support those who followed.” Information, too, flowed back and forth along the paths they carved, carried by word of mouth and, as freed people learned to read, via the printed word.20

As she retraced her steps, this time with less certainty about where she would find her children, Clara broadcast their names all along the way, enlisting the help of “colored preachers” to spread the word to their congregations, as the World had recounted, “in order that one person might tell the story to another and thus spread it throughout the country.” The grapevine telegraph is what enslaved people had called the covert means by which they shared news and rumors with one another when doing so could get a slave killed. Now information was shared openly, announced from the pulpits of Black churches and published in Black newspapers, where Clara, among many others, continued her search.

Everywhere Black communities were found, so were Black newspapers—hundreds of them: one scholar described the growth of Black newspapers at this time as an “explosion.” By one count, in Mississippi alone, African Americans published 150 newspapers between 1890 and 1910.21 Many of these papers printed advertisements announcing searches like Bashop’s—for children lost in slavery, and for mothers, siblings, fathers, wives, and husbands. In this way, Clara Bashop left behind clues along the roads she traveled, a chain of words and remembrances of John and Patience and the family they had made together. No wonder it is difficult to find Bashop in the records; she seems to have stayed anywhere only long enough to tell her story and place an ad. Then she moved on. How she came to live in New Jersey remains a mystery.

White newspapers told stories of husbands and wives who found each other again and remarried—such as George Harris and Mary J. Brooks, who were separated by sale in Louisiana in 1859 and remarried in California in 1904. “The couple will finish their days in Fresno County at Harris’ home, north of town,” the story read, “where the large family of thirty-one will be raised in old plantation style.”22 Reunion stories that ended with happy couples raising families, “old plantation style,” played well in the white press. The Memphis Public Ledger ran them; one on June 28, 1882, appeared under the headline “Romantic Meeting,” describing a couple’s chance meeting in San Antonio, Texas, and their “reconciliation” after more than twenty years: “The event is a romantic one in the extreme and illustrates the wonderful vicissitudes of human life.”23

The term “reconciliation” was not incidental. These feel-good vignettes of faithful old slaves meeting and marrying served as metaphors for the reconciliation of North and South as the two former adversaries let go of past grievances and agreed to the Lost Cause version of the past stripped of real facts about slavery. Such as the 1908 Philadelphia Inquirer account of Mrs. Louisa Fry of Pleasantville, New Jersey, who, while working at her job as a domestic in Atlantic City, overheard someone mention “an old colored woman in Philadelphia, who claimed to come from the same Virginia village” as she. When Mrs. Fry met the woman, she recognized her as her long-lost mother; inexplicably the paper called Fry’s mother “ ‘Aunty’ Strong.” She claimed to be 106.24

The World, too, favored slavery stories with happy endings. Like the one the paper published on February 23, 1894, describing the reunion of John Jones with the “long lost mother” from whom he was separated on the “Slave Auction Block.” John Jones, who the paper described as “prosperous” and “successful in accumulating the world’s goods,” found his mother, Parthenia, by writing to the newspapers. “It is hard to appreciate such a condition of affairs in these days of freedom,” the paper concluded, “but the facts are incontrovertible.”25 Clara Bashop would not have found it hard to appreciate John’s predicament, or Parthenia’s; neither would any of those formerly enslaved people whose advertisements appeared alongside hers in the Black press and whose paths she crossed as she searched for her children.

When the World devoted a long column to Clara Bashop’s search for Patience, they likely anticipated running a follow-up story reporting Clara’s reunion, one that could attest to “the power of a great newspaper” and that ended with a well-married and “prosperous” Patience taking in her elderly mother to live with her in her spacious home, where she was raising her own children, “old plantation style,” confirming for readers that, however bad slavery had been, it had ended happily.



Three years after Clara Bashop enlisted the help of the World, she still had not found her children.26 She had crossed the country several times, telling the story of her family, and she was not done.

In short, succinct advertisements, members of Freedom Generation continued to tell their stories of love and hope, of families that, against all odds, were made in slavery and that slavery’s survivors worked to remake in freedom. Their searches left behind evidence crucial to understanding the experience of people seeking to come out of slavery’s long shadow, to the search for family, and of people living out their lives while still holding on to and speaking the truth about the past. Members of Freedom Generation led full lives—in some cases, very long ones, like Mrs. Louisa Fry’s mother, for example, or the centenarians interviewed by the Works Progress Administration Federal Writers’ Project in the 1930s.27 And they made new families after slavery while they continued to hold on to those that had been taken from them.






CHAPTER TWO The Children of Hagar Outlaw
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Hagar Outlaw, “Information Wanted,” Christian Recorder (Philadelphia, PA), April 7, 1866



Hagar Outlaw spent sixty years in slavery. In that time, she gave birth to at least nine children. One by one, Hagar’s children were sold from her. She kept track of them as best she could, and when she became free she got word out to them that “their mother still lives.” In a newspaper advertisement in the Christian Recorder, she called her children to come to her, naming eight of them, maybe in the order they were sold: Cherry, Viny, and Mills Outlaw; Noah Outlaw; John Outlaw; Eli Outlaw; Thomas Rembry Outlaw; and Julia Outlaw. (One more child, Dolly, was not listed in Hagar’s 1866 advertisement.) Her words were urgent—“immediately,” “eagerly.” Without the comfort of her children or their financial support, an aging freedwoman like Hagar faced an uncertain future. At sixty, Hagar Outlaw did not want to grow old alone.

Hagar’s search began in Raleigh, North Carolina, where she placed the advertisement naming her children and some of the men who had bought or sold them. To her children, Outlaw included this message: “Come to the capital of North Carolina, and you will find your mother there, eagerly awaiting her loved ones.” “The place is healthy,” she added, “and they can do well here.”

As she slipped back and forth from third to first person, Hagar Outlaw communicated some of the emotions she felt at a moment when she hoped to be reunited with her children. “I hope they will think enough of their mother to come and look for her, as she is growing old, and needs help,” she said. “As the hand of time steals over me now so rapidly, I wish to see my dear ones once more clasped to their mother’s heart as in days of yore.” She had waited for years to see them. Hagar began her life in freedom by listing her name next to theirs, for all to see the family she had made in slavery.

All of them shared a surname with her former enslaver.

David Outlaw was also in Raleigh, although Hagar Outlaw did not ask for his help in her ad. Lawyer and one-term United States congressman from Bertie County, David Outlaw had been one of North Carolina’s biggest enslavers, calling ninety enslaved people his own. David Outlaw was a powerful white man descended from the state’s founding generation. After one undistinguished term representing his district in Washington, he was serving in the state senate when Hagar came to Raleigh looking for her children. If anyone knew where the children were, it was “old David Outlaw,” as Hagar referred to him.

Finding them would not be easy. Like Clara Bashop’s, Hagar Outlaw’s advertisement included important details about where their mother had last seen them—Wake Forest—and the various men responsible for selling or buying them. But the short notice left out other crucial details, such as the complete names of these buyers and sellers and who her children were sold to. Outlaw was silent as well about when the children were sold, and details about when or where any of them became free were also missing.

Several local Raleigh newspapers printed advertisements like Hagar Outlaw’s, including the Tri-Weekly Standard, the Daily Standard, and the Weekly Standard. None of these papers were Black-owned, and, unlike the Christian Recorder, the Raleigh papers published only single ads that were not part of long columns or special sections devoted to formerly enslaved people looking for family members.1 Single ads from North Carolina freed people could easily be overlooked squeezed in between large print advertisements selling farm supplies and equipment.2 It’s no wonder that, like so many others, Hagar Outlaw placed her advertisement looking for her children in a Black-owned newspaper she’d heard about from a USCT soldier, perhaps, or an African Methodist Episcopal (AME) Church pastor.

Hagar Outlaw paid $1.50 to place the advertisement in the Recorder, something that could not have been easy for her. Every word counted; too many cost you extra. Hagar chose her words to appeal to people she knew and to anyone related to, working for, or in contact with members of the extended Outlaw family. With roots dating back to the first families of North Carolina, this latter group was surely rather large, including readers familiar with the state’s white slaveholding elite, the properties they owned in the eastern part of the state, and the enslaved people who the white Outlaws had once called their own.

Former slaves often marked their freedom by changing their names, shedding the names given to them by their enslavers and starting life over with names of their choosing. “My slave name was Daniel Cooper,” read an ad from a man looking for his mother, father, and seven sisters and brothers, “my name at this time is Daniel West.”3 L. E. Gideon, “owner and originator of Gideon’s Refined Negro Minstrels,” could not confirm his father’s current last name. “He may have went by the name of Rhine or McAfee, having been owned by both slave holders and therefore used both names.”4 His first name was Robert; as a slave he enlisted in the 1st Kansas Colored Infantry, a regiment of escaped slaves from Arkansas and Missouri, like Robert.5 Robert Gideon became free when he put on a blue U.S. Army uniform; his wife and son, sometime thereafter. Forty years later, his son said in his ad that he was “a gentleman of refinement, culture and wealth. He is one of the leading showmen of the country, carrying thirty people and has been for years. He and his mother would profit considerable if they could locate him.” L. E. Gideon had made a good life for himself in the freedom that his father had helped to make possible. Now he wanted to share it with his father, whatever his name or whereabouts. A son’s inheritance to his father.

There were good reasons to keep a slave name: applying for a U.S. Army pension, for instance, or retaining a connection to and perhaps the protection or patronage of the planter elite. Keeping a name gave freed people a sense of stability.6 It could also help a mother find her children.

Hagar Outlaw found three.

Out of the tangled genealogy of slavery, Hagar managed to wrench three of the children the white Outlaws had sold away from her, to live with them as they formed their own families, to “clasp” them to her heart as the “hand of time” stole over her. Hugh Outlaw, one of the men she named in her ad and whose connection to Hagar and her children is unclear, may have helped her to locate them. It helped, too, that Hagar remembered many of the details of each child’s sale, as if they were seared in her memory, and that she had made her way to Raleigh, where she enlisted help in writing an ad to be placed in a Philadelphia newspaper. In the years after she became free, Hagar put back together the family she had made in slavery.

Her daughters Julia and Dolly responded first. By 1870, the three had made a home together in Raleigh, Julia and Dolly supporting their mother and Julia’s son David. Julia took in wash, and Dolly worked as a “nurse,” a term that could have described a number of jobs. And Hagar Outlaw’s family continued to grow. Hagar found her son Eli, next, and their two households became one. Hagar Outlaw found the support she needed in her adult children. Making a family together allowed Julia to send David to school. Hagar’s granddaughter, Mary—daughter perhaps to Julia or one of Hagar’s other children—also attended school. They stayed in Raleigh, did well as she had promised, and avoided the fields where others worked shares for the same families to whom they had been enslaved. Hagar’s grandchildren and some of her own children learned to read and write; some owned their homes. They enjoyed happy moments together—all of them made possible by Hagar Outlaw’s search for her children. Surely, she hoped to someday find them all.

Of the children’s father, Thomas Outlaw, little is known. Hagar made sure that the justice of the peace to whom Eli (“Elijah” is what he wrote, in his own hand) applied for a marriage license on March 27, 1875, recorded his father’s name next to Hagar’s. The next day Hagar stood beside her daughters at Raleigh’s Second Baptist Church to witness Elijah’s marriage to Nancy Robinson. Perhaps she thought about her own marriage that day, about Thomas, who may not have survived to the day that his son was married in a Black-owned church by a white pastor from Massachusetts; he did not get to enjoy the comfort of being surrounded by them all without fear of having them taken away again. Freedom Generation experienced moments of joy, of relief at what they had managed to take back for themselves. These moments were surely no less joyful when tempered by the bittersweet memories of what slavery had taken from them forever.



Hagar Outlaw’s 1866 advertisement serves as a time stamp, marking the moment when she went to the paper with her family story. That story began decades before.

Hagar and Thomas Outlaw had built a family in slavery, like so many others, aware that it existed at the forbearance of the white Outlaws. Over nearly thirty years, Hagar Outlaw had babies—from around 1824, when Eli was born, to 1852, Cherry’s likely birth date—about every three years, from around nineteen years old to forty-seven.7 There may have been more babies who died at birth or soon thereafter.8

With no information about him, we cannot know if Thomas was father to all of Hagar’s children. Surely Hagar’s son, Thomas Rembry, “taken by Wm Outlaw,” was named for his father. By continuing to have children even as the white Outlaws sold them away from her, Hagar Outlaw refused to allow the white Outlaws to deny her and Thomas a family.

Thomas and Hagar were likely married around the time that Eli was born, in a ceremony that was witnessed by family, kin, and friends living on or near the Outlaw plantation in Windsor, North Carolina. Hagar was born in Windsor, so it may have been that members of her family were there that day. Her mother or a sister may have helped Hagar deliver her children. David Outlaw approved of the marriage, but it was not recognized by state law.9 Neither did the law recognize Hagar and Thomas’s claims to their own children. Every one of the children belonged to David Outlaw, a white man, a lawyer well versed in the state laws that gave him the right to dispose of another person’s children as he saw fit. Slaveholders made no secret of their interests, condoning marriages that produced children and condemning those that did not. Don’t forget, a North Carolina enslaver said at the marriage of two enslaved people, it was their “duty to have a houseful of children” for him.10

But enslaved people like Hagar and Thomas had children to pass along their culture, secure their legacy, and affirm their own lives. Having a child in slavery was “an act of defiance, a signal to the slaveowner that no matter how cruel and inhumane his actions,” enslaved people would not “be subjugated and destroyed.” “ ‘My child him is mine’ ” was how an enslaved Kentucky mother put it.11 Clara Bashop said the same about her children, Patience and John, who had belonged to Dick Christian “in name only.” Surely Hagar felt the same about hers.

It was not uncommon for enslaved women to have as many children as she did, but Hagar pushed the outer limits of reproductive capacity by giving birth in her late forties. At the same time, enslavers were pushing enslaved people’s productive capacities in the cotton frontier of the American South—Georgia, Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana. Hagar’s son Noah “was taken to Alabama by Joseph Turner Hillsborough”; Julia “was sold in New Orleans by Dr. Outlaw,” the prefix “Dr.” referencing David Outlaw’s status as a lawyer.

Most never made it back from the labor camps of the lower Mississippi Valley. Julia Outlaw did.

Before the war, sixteen white Outlaws claimed ownership of 244 enslaved people in North Carolina, mostly in Bertie and Duplin Counties.12 Bertie County is in the northeastern part of the state, where the Chowan River runs into the Albemarle Sound. Duplin is one hundred miles southwest, near the Cape Fear River.13 The white Outlaws in the two counties were related by blood and strategic marriages that connected them to other prominent families with similar pedigrees. David Outlaw and his wife, Emily, had six children; when each of them came of age they received part of a massive estate made possible not only by generations of slave labor but by the money they made selling children.14

In 1860, federal enumerators counted 130 enslaved people in Bertie County belonging to David (91), Edward (21), Jeremiah (9), and Wilson (9) Outlaw. Fifty-three-year-old David Outlaw had tripled his property in slaves over a ten-year period. On the eve of the Civil War, he was among the 2 percent of white North Carolinians who claimed ownership of fifty or more enslaved people. Most white North Carolinians owned none. Planters in Bertie County were not singularly committed to cotton; enslaved people produced a variety of crops, including tobacco and wool for export. Even so, over a ten-year period, the enslaved people in the county were responsible for a fivefold increase in cotton production; in that same time, their numbers grew by only 1.1 percent.15 This increased cotton production was made possible by higher and higher picking totals from enslaved people.

Pushing enslaved people to pick faster allowed the U.S. South to corner the world’s lucrative cotton exports. By the time of the Civil War, Americans produced 88 percent of the cotton fueling England’s textile manufacturing boom. This productivity made investors on both sides of the Atlantic rich, but it came at great human cost, as enslaved people were subjected to a cruel disciplinary regime.

The slave population in Duplin County grew, too, but slaves there were scattered among a number of smaller holdings.16 Outside the elite circles that included people like the Outlaws, white landholders in Duplin County hitched their class aspirations to the backs of enslaved people who, even when acquired in ones or twos, could make it possible to devote another acre of land to the cultivation of a cash crop, the proceeds of which could see a family through a bad harvest or replace farm equipment. The labor of one enslaved person, like Hagar Outlaw or any one of her children, on a farm meant a white woman spent less time in the field and her children could spend more time in school.17 White men with political aspirations like David Outlaw counted on the votes of the state’s small or non-slaveowners. To secure this support, planters hired out enslaved people to their less fortunate white neighbors, as this helped to knit together the interests of slaveholder and non-slaveholder in a system whose benefits flowed disproportionately to the former.

In the middle of epic events such as the settling of America’s cotton frontier and the forced migration of thousands of people to work the cotton fields, people like Hagar and Thomas Outlaw and Clara Bashop had children, and, as those children grew, so did their parents’ hopes for them. Those hopes were not extinguished when a parent was sold away, as was Clara Bashop, nor when the children were, as was the case for Hagar Outlaw’s children. Hagar kept track of each child as they were taken from her, repeating the names of the men who bought them and the details about where the children were headed over and over again so that she would remember them. She may have extracted this information from David Outlaw or gleaned it from the grapevine. Each time she repeated the details to herself, she no doubt attached to each name or location the hope that it would help bring them back to her. Hagar Outlaw made a family in slavery, and when she did, she proved the persistence of hope in the midst of an institution that would betray it. But it wasn’t the institution of slavery in the abstract that betrayed her hopes but rather the decisions made over many years by one man.

David Outlaw fancied himself a “gentleman” slaveholder, like Dick Christian. “Whatever evils may be attendant upon the institution of slavery,” he wrote to his wife, Emily, from Washington, where he was serving in the House of Representatives in the middle of debates about slavery in the new state of California, “yet its tendency is to beget the high sense of honor, an undying love of liberty, which nothing but death can destroy.” Motivated by his sense of the honor that owning people begat, David Outlaw rejected Emily’s suggestion that he sell his slaves. “I cannot bring myself to regard them merely as property,” he explained. “They are human beings—placed under my control, and for whose welfare I am to some extent responsible.”18

Reassuring as it was, in the midst of congressional antislavery agitation, for David Outlaw to describe himself as honorable and to insist on the humanity of the ninety enslaved people who worked his Bertie County plantation, his actions spoke louder than his words. As did the actions of his enslaved people who ran away, sometimes repeatedly. When he lost track of three hired-out men, he regretted that he had not “had them severely punished for the fault of which they were guilty last year.” Hiring out enslaved people helped him secure the political support of his neighbors, but it was costly. Like Dick Christian, David Outlaw liked to think that these things, like slaves running away or having to be sold away for their own good, happened to him and not because of him. “The fact is,” he wrote in a moment of self-pity at the disappearance of the enslaved men, “I am not fit to own slaves.”19 He determined to sell them, if they could be found.

When it came to selling Hagar’s children, maybe Outlaw told himself that he was doing it for their own good. But we should not be deceived by his expressions of self-pity. To claim ownership over another person an enslaver had to convince himself of a number of contradictory things, like when he assured himself and others that an enslaved mother did not suffer the anguish of a lost child like a white woman did even as he sought to shield himself from her anguish. These were things that enslavers repeated to themselves, over and over, to convince themselves of the opposite of what was plainly true. We should read David Outlaw’s regret that he had not punished his slaves enough for what it is—evidence that he punished them as he saw fit and sold their children when and to whom he wanted. Yet, he liked to play the part of the “good master” in letters to his wife and children. All of this pretending was aimed at covering up the truth about how much enslavers depended on the humanity of people to whom they routinely denied it.

When she went in search of her children, Hagar Outlaw did not appeal, at least in the papers, to David Outlaw for help. If he had her welfare and that of her children in mind, he would not have sold them in the first place.

Hagar’s son Elijah was particularly valuable to the Bertie County Outlaws, for he “acted as watchman for old David Outlaw.” David Outlaw trusted Elijah when he assigned him to this post, which may have entailed policing the enslaved people that David Outlaw called his, protecting the white family, or both. Elijah’s selection for that job may tell us something about David Outlaw’s relationship with Hagar, that he knew and trusted her and, by extension, her son. As David Outlaw’s watchman, Elijah was privy to intimate details about the white family that he was trusted to handle with discretion.

But then, what are we to make of the fact that David Outlaw authorized Joseph Outlaw to sell Elijah? Did Elijah betray David’s trust? Or was it something else?

It’s striking to read the list of white Outlaws who sold enslaved ones: “Eli Outlaw was sold by Joseph Outlaw…. Thomas Rembry Outlaw was taken away by Wm. Outlaw. Julia Outlaw was sold in New Orleans by Dr. Outlaw.” Generations of slave-ownership produced a tangle of names and relationships, the consequences of which outlived Freedom Generation. The repetition of names is confusing and the silences about the connections between all of these people are deafening. Whereas Thomas Rembry was likely named for his father and Hagar’s husband, could it be that Hagar named her daughter Cherry after old Dr. Outlaw’s maternal grandfather, Solomon Cherry? And what about Hagar’s daughter Julia, who was sold to New Orleans, where she gave birth to a son named David? In later years, David continued to live with his mother but shed the first name, adopting D.W., for David Williams, which is how his mother, Julia Outlaw, reported his name to census enumerators in 1870. Did he change his name to distance himself from a past about which he had heard from his mother or grandmother, or that he had deduced from their silence? Advertisements like Hagar Outlaw’s indicate that members of Freedom Generation strategically retained and discarded names associated with slavery, but reading the ads feels like trying to decipher a map without the benefit of a legend.

We cannot answer the question who, if any, among the Black and white Outlaws were related to one another. Hagar knew the answer, but she may have preferred not to tell anyone. Sometimes it was safer for enslaved family members to keep things from each other, to shield one another from harsh truths that they could do nothing about. “Dissemble” is what one historian calls the strategic omission of information about rape and other forms of intimate violence perpetrated against enslaved people.20

Like most families, the white Outlaws had secrets. Some of these were about the mixed-race children in the slave quarters. With landholdings spread out over several counties, the white Outlaws moved their human property from one branch of the extended family to another. Selling children from their mothers was the slaveowner’s prerogative; doing so may have helped to keep family secrets.

Scholars once conspired with slave-owning families to keep their secrets. Until recently, for instance, historians took for granted the word of Thomas Jefferson’s white descendants who dismissed the claims of the Hemingses to their shared bloodline. And it is still possible for visitors to tour elegant plantation homes that never mention slavery. For too long we embraced what historian Nell Painter called “slavery’s family romance, the performance of beauty” that concealed the reality of childhood and sexual trauma that was common in wealthy families who were good at covering it up. Hagar Outlaw lost one child after another to the slave trade. There may have been a white Outlaw who sold a Black child to whom he was related. We have yet to come to account for the psychological toll slavery took on enslaved and enslaver. When we do, we will begin to recognize the “interrelatedness of us all.”21 But first there is much work to be done to atone for these scholarly sins. Some of that work entails tending to tangles of names such as in Hagar Outlaw’s missing persons advertisement.

Names don’t necessarily indicate a family relationship, but with so few clues to work with, we have to consider the possibility that they do.

Hagar is an Old Testament name. She appears in Genesis as the slave to Sarah, who, convinced she was unable to have children, “gave” Hagar to her husband, Abraham, so that she could have his child. Sarah was a jealous mistress, and when she finally bore a child of her own, she demanded that Abraham cast out Hagar and Ishmael, the son she had had with Abraham, into the desert.22 Thomas Jefferson was taken by the story of Hagar, on whom he surely projected his desire for Sally Hemings, the enslaved woman with whom Jefferson fathered four children. “Jefferson lived in a world where having a young slave woman” as a concubine was possible and in which the children Hagar bore were “all around him.”23 David, Joseph, William, and “Dr.” Outlaw lived in that world, too, surrounded by Hagar’s children, some of whom might have been their own. The meaning of her name and the not-so-subtle implications of it were apparent to white men who believed they had a right of access to the bodies of enslaved women and expected to profit from their fertility.



The Civil War changed all that. In February and March 1862, U.S. Army troops came to the coastal regions of North Carolina and stayed there where their camps became destinations for enslaved people making their way to freedom before emancipation was U.S. policy. By spring, federal authorities estimated that about ten thousand people—enslaved men, women, and children who had fled their masters—were building a free community on Roanoke Island.24 Four columns of the U.S. Army made their way through the state three years later—one worked its way along the coast after securing the forts at the mouth of the Cape Fear River and taking Wilmington, another one moved through the center of the state from the capital, and Sherman’s army entered the state in two columns. The Confederate surrender was signed at Durham Station on April 26, 1865. The following day, U.S. general John Schofield, in command of the army in the state, issued an emancipation order.25

Enslaved people in the state had already gotten the message. In March, two New England teachers reported from New Bern that the “streets are literally thronged with colored refugees. They come in by hundreds—men, women and children.”26 “[A] huge elephant in our hands” is how the general described North Carolina’s freedom-seeking people, a problem he was eager to be rid of.27 In the same order in which he declared an end to slavery, General Schofield “recommended” that the state’s more than 330,000 newly freed people not congregate “about towns or military camps” and, instead, “remain with their former masters and labor faithfully.”28 This may have sounded like freedom to the general but to those who flocked to U.S. Army camps and to the state’s cities and towns it was not.

Another of Schofield’s orders recognized families made in slavery, granted parents authority over their children, and charged adult children with the support of their parents.29 People like Hagar Outlaw. I “am growing old,” Outlaw said one year after she became free, and need “help.”

In place of the paternalism that slavery’s defenders had touted as evidence of the South’s moral superiority, Northern officials sought to mandate a web of dependent relationships among the formerly enslaved and enslavers that would allow the federal government to wash their hands of the freed people. Surely one way to administer this policy would have been to trace the surnames that still connected freed people like Hagar Outlaw to the men and women who had held on to them as long as their labor was valuable. It was easy to find David Outlaw.

But no effort was made to make former slaveholders support ex-slaves who were too old or infirm to work. Or to pay them restitution or reparation.

Hagar Outlaw came to Raleigh having decided that the city was a good place to start life as a free person. Some former enslavers ignored the fact of freedom, denying it to people they no longer had any legal claim over. Others drove freed people from their homes, sometimes violently. Federal agents and local newspapers reported the murders of freed people at the hands of whites who had once claimed them as their property.30 This may have been what Hagar had in mind when she sought to reassure her children that Raleigh was “healthy.” Safety in numbers appealed to an elderly woman making her way to freedom with no blood kin beside her.

In April 1866, Hagar Outlaw enlisted someone’s help in writing an advertisement that described the surviving members of her family, and she called her children to come care for her.

Four weeks earlier, David Outlaw and the other members of the all-white state legislature approved a series of laws that accepted the fact of freedom even as they re-created many of the circumstances of slavery. The tangled genealogy of white and Black Outlaws may have been on his mind when David Outlaw and other legislators drew up “An Act Concerning Negroes and Persons of Color or of Mixed Blood,” which defined as Black “negroes and their issue, even where one ancestor in each succeeding generation to the fourth inclusive, is white.” With a stroke of the pen, lawmakers acknowledged the race mixing that resulted from the rape of enslaved women and legislated their children and grandchildren into a category of Blackness. And they prohibited interracial marriage. With these measures, white lawmakers sought to legislate a racial separation for others that they had never expected of themselves.

The act did, however, retroactively legalize marriages between enslaved people from “the time of commencement of such cohabitation.” This was welcome news for many couples gathered in Raleigh and other towns where they were now invited to go before a justice of the peace and register decades-long marriages, like Hagar and Thomas’s. Couples paid 25 cents for the privilege of having their marriages recorded in a book by a white man. Failure to do so could land either or both of them in jail. Once in jail, a North Carolina freed person could be leased out to their former master. What formerly enslaved people gained in this new law was not so much the “right to marry” but a directive to do so.31 And, in solemnizing marriage, the state of North Carolina found the most efficient way of ridding the state of the care of dependent children, the elderly, and other members of newly recognized free Black families.32 The laws David Outlaw and other white legislators were busy passing as Hagar Outlaw and hundreds of others made their way to Raleigh ensured that if anyone was going to be responsible for caring for aging freed people, it would be their Black family relations.

Taken together, these measures formed North Carolina’s Black Code, though they were not labeled as such. It included such things as a vagrancy law and fines for freed people who left the state and tried to return, and it prohibited Black North Carolinians from owning guns.33 Every word indicated that the men writing it were not ready to give up their prerogatives as slaveowners; they ceded hardly an inch of the power they had for so long wielded over Black women and men. What they had given up was any lingering sense that they were responsible for their formerly enslaved people’s “welfare,” as David Outlaw had put it—that they owed anything to people whose labor had sustained them in their positions of power.

David Outlaw lived long enough to lose his seat in the state senate and to see Bertie County represented in the House by a Black man, Parker David Robbins.34 Robbins, a USCT veteran, served as a delegate to the state’s constitutional convention, where he fought apprenticeships that granted custody to former enslavers of the children of North Carolina freedwomen and -men. Outlaw was dead when Robbins and eighteen other Black men took their seats in the statehouse in Raleigh, the same seats where former enslavers had tried to hold on to the power over Black people’s lives that slavery had guaranteed them.35

Hagar Outlaw seized upon the changing legal landscape to reconstitute her family. She might have received help writing and paying for the ad from an agent of the Freedmen’s Bureau in Raleigh. In the early months after the surrender, Black men in U.S. Army uniforms were a common sight in Raleigh. In September 1865, five months after the war ended, more than nine thousand U.S. Army troops occupied North Carolina, ensuring that former Confederates laid down their arms and former enslavers obeyed the emancipation order. More than half of these were USCT, themselves mostly former slaves.36 Over the next few months, the army began reducing the presence of USCT in response to protests by white North Carolinians who complained that the presence of uniformed Black men made freed people “insolent and idle.” There were fewer of these men around the following spring when Hagar Outlaw wrote her ad, but there were still enough to raise the ire of whites who resented being forced “to treat freedmen fairly,” as a Freedmen’s Bureau agent put it.37

Black churches in Raleigh did what they could to help freed people streaming into the city. After the war, Black communities throughout the South began their own separate congregations and opened churches to serve them. In Raleigh, the Second Baptist Church, where Elijah married Nancy Robinson, represented the fondest hopes and dreams of Freedom Generation.38 Built by Black North Carolinians, the church was a place of worship, education, and aspiration. The white pastor, Massachusetts-born U.S. Army veteran Henry Tupper, shared a pulpit with August Shepard, a North Carolina freedman and student at Tupper’s ministry school. That school became Shaw University, one of the earliest Historically Black Colleges and Universities to be founded in the postwar South.39 The Black men who studied for the ministry there went on to start their own congregations and to lead missions around the world.

Finding one’s family was a foundational aspiration for Freedom Generation—on it rested the fulfillment of the others. Among the parishioners of Raleigh’s Second Baptist, Hagar and her children found people who supported them in fulfilling that aspiration. Hagar Outlaw could not read or write, but among the pastors and parishioners of Second Baptist, she found people who could. To one of them she may have recounted the story that would appear in the papers.



While she waited for word from her children, Hagar Outlaw needed food. For four months—from March to June 1868—she drew rations from the Freedmen’s Bureau.40 Each month, Outlaw brought home meat, bread or cornmeal, and some combination of beans or peas, rice or hominy, coffee or tea, sugar, vinegar, candles, soap, salt, pepper, potatoes, and molasses “when practicable.”41 All were part of standard-issue U.S. Army rations, although freed people—and poor whites—received these items in smaller portions than did soldiers. The food earmarked for freed people was also generally of lower quality. Even so, Hagar was surely grateful to have it. About every four weeks, Outlaw stood in line at bureau offices, answered a few questions about her situation, and carried away the food she would live on until next month. For three of the four months, Outlaw received twenty rations, standard issue for one poor white or “destitute” freed person each month. In April, she received half that much. What she did for food when her rations ran out that month is unclear. And, after June, the bureau cut Hagar’s aid entirely.

Hagar Outlaw’s experience receiving food aid from the federal government is consistent with what we know about Freedmen’s Bureau policies and the agency’s concerns about fostering “dependency” among the freed people. A freed person could count on no more than three months of rations, after which a bureau agent visited them to investigate their claim for continued support.42 Three months was enough time, according to the bureau, for a freed person to find work so that she could feed herself. Hagar Outlaw may have elicited the sympathy of an agent at the Raleigh office when she received an extra month of rations. Or maybe Outlaw made the case that the half ration she received in April could not possibly be the reason the government would let her go hungry in June. Those rations, meager and inadequate, were nonetheless the difference between life and death.

As for shelter, Hagar Outlaw likely made do as best she could. Freedmen’s Bureau officials described chaotic scenes immediately after the war as freed people made their way to southern towns with little more than the clothes on their back. In Raleigh, Colonel Eliphalet Whittlesey, the federal officer overseeing bureau operations in the summer of 1865, found “thousands of blacks… collected about this and other towns occupying every hovel and shanty… many dying for want of proper food and medical supplies.” Refugees “were crowding into the towns, and literally swarming about every depot of supplies, to receive their rations.”43 Accounts of overcrowding came in from refugee camps around the state, as did concern about the spread of smallpox and other diseases.44 Freed people worked to mitigate conditions in the camps and to turn the military-issue tents and other temporary shelters with which they had first greeted freedom into homes they hoped would be permanent. One hundred miles east of Raleigh, under the auspices of the Freedmen’s Bureau, for example, freed people at New Bern built a settlement alongside the Trent River on land confiscated from white North Carolinians who had sided with the Confederacy; there freed people built homes “by themselves of lumber manufactured by hand.” White North Carolinians derided these Black settlements and pointed to problems there in order to demand the removal of the Freedmen’s Bureau from the state. A reporter for Raleigh’s Weekly Standard, for instance, found conditions at the Trent River settlement to be “truly deplorable” and “calculated to excite the deepest sympathy.”45
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| Rembry Outlaw was taken away by Wm. Outlaw.
| Julia Outlaw was sold in New Orleans by Dr.
| Outlaw. I live in Raleigh, and I hope they will
think enovgh of their mother to come 2nd look |
| for her, as she is growing old, and needs help. }
She will be glad to see them again at her side. |
The place is healthy, and they can all do well
here. As the hand of time steals over me now
so rapidly, I wish to see my dear ones once more |
clasped to their mother’s heart as in days of yore. |
Come to the capital of North Carolina, and you
will find your mother there, eagerly awaiting
her loved ones. |
Hugh Outlaw, if you should find any or all of |
my children, you will do me an incalculable favor
by immediately informing them that their mo-
ther still lives. X |
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“Heartbreaking and essential.”

—JILL LEPORE,
_ author of These Truths
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